

Confluence of climate, violence, disease, and cost shocks: vulnerability of and impacts on Nigerian Maize Traders

Research Paper #20

August 2023

Authors: Carolina M. Vargas, Thomas Reardon, and Lenis Onipede Saweda Liverpool-Tasie







FOOD SECURITY POLICY RESEARCH, CAPACITY, AND INFLUENCE (PRCI) RESEARCH PAPERS

This Research Paper series is designed to disseminate timely research and policy analytical outputs generated by the USAID-funded Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Food Security Policy Research, Capacity, and Influence (PRCI) and its Associate Awards and Buy-ins. The PRCI project is managed by the Food Security Group (FSG) of the Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics (AFRE) at Michigan State University (MSU) and implemented by a consortium of three major partners: the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Cornell University, the Regional Network of African Policy Research Institutes (ReNAPRI), and the Institute for Statistical, Social, and Economic Research (ISSER) at the University of Ghana. The MSU consortium works with governments, researchers, and private sector stakeholders in Feed the Future focus countries in Africa and Asia to co-create a global program of research and institutional capacity development that will enhance the ability of local policy research organizations to conduct high-quality food security policy research and to influence food security policy more effectively while becoming increasingly self-reliant.

The papers are aimed at researchers, policy makers, donor agencies, educators, and international development practitioners. Selected papers will be translated into other languages.

Copies of all PRCI Research Papers and Policy Briefs are freely downloadable in pdf format from this link. Copies of all PRCI papers and briefs are also submitted to the USAID Development Experience Clearing House (DEC) at this link and to AgEcon Search.

STATEMENT OF SUPPORT

This research is made possible by the generous support of the American people through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) through funding to the Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Food Security Policy Research, Capacity, and Influence (PRCI) under grant 7200AA19LE000001. The contents are the responsibility of the study authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government. Copyright © 2022, Michigan State University and Cornell University. All rights reserved. This material may be reproduced for personal and not-for-profit use without permission from but with acknowledgment to MSU and Cornell. Published by the Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics, Michigan State University, Justin S. Morrill Hall of Agriculture, 446 West Circle Dr., Room 202, East Lansing, Michigan 48824, USA.

AUTHORS

Carolina M. Vargas is a PhD Student Department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics, Michigan State University

Thomas Reardon is a University Distinguished Professor in the department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics at Michigan State University

Lenis Onipede Saweda Liverpool-Tasie is a MSU Foundation Professor in the department of Agricultural, Food, and Resource Economics at Michigan State University

For inquiries, please contact:

Thomas Reardon (reardon@msu.edu)

AUTHORS' ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for comments on earlier versions of this paper by Fernanda Zermoglio of USAID and participants of two USAID seminars in May and July 2022, and David Tschirley of MSU.

ABSTRACT

Using unique primary survey data on 1100 Nigerian maize traders, we use probit models to estimate the probability of experiencing exogenous shocks and its relationship to trader characteristics (gender, size, and location), and traders vulnerability, measured as the probability of experiencing severe impacts. We study five types of exogenous shocks: climate, violence, price changes, spoilage, and COVID-19. We analyze the relationship among these shocks and the trader characteristics that make traders more vulnerable. We find traders are prone to experience more than one shock, which increases the intensity of the shocks. This is especially the case for price shocks, which are often accompanied by violence, climate, and COVID shocks. The poorer Northern region is disproportionately affected by shocks, with Northern traders experiencing more price shocks, and Southern traders more violence shocks but in their long supply chains from the North. Women are more prone to experience a violence shock and men, a severe climate event. A limitation is that the data only analyze the general degree of impact of a shock rather than quantify lost income. A key policy implication is the need for a differentiated response and prevention strategy based on the particular mix of shocks and types of traders and regions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

FOOD SECURITY POLICY RESEARCH, CAPACITY, AND INFLUENCE (PRCI)
RESEARCH PAPERS	ii
STATEMENT OF SUPPORT	
AUTHORS	
AUTHORS' ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
ABSTRACT	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	vi
Introduction	1
Literature review	2
Data	3
Conceptual Framework	5
Regression model and estimation method	8
Descriptive statistics	9
Climate/weather shocks	9
Conflict shocks	12
Spoilage/loss/waste shocks	14
Cost shocks	15
COVID related shocks (mainly from lockdowns)	16
Confluence of shocks	16
Regression Results	17
Conclusions	22
References	24

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Maize Tradel Sample Characteristics, 2021 Survey
Table 2. Reasons traders exited trading after the 2017 survey & before the 2021 survey4
Table 3. Classification of general types of shocks
Table 4. Climate shocks affecting maize traders August 2020 - July 202110
Table 5. Shocks by size and region of the maize trader11
Table 6. Shocks by gender of the maize trader12
Table 7. Conflict shocks affecting maize traders12
Table 8. Spoilage/loss/waste shocks affecting maize traders14
Table 9. Cost shocks affecting maize traders15
Table 10. COVID-related shocks on maize traders16
Table 11. Shares of traders undergoing no shock, one shock, or multiple shocks17
Table 12. Probit regression results (Average partial effects): determinants of shock incidence by type
of shock17
Table 13. Probit regression results (Average partial effects): determinants of severe shock incidence
by type of shock

Introduction

The food system of Nigeria has been pummeled over the past two decades by a series of shocks (bird flu, energy crisis, the 2007/8 international food crisis), all bringing surges of costs and uncertainty. These were layered on a long history of climate variation and uncertainty, droughts in the North, and floods in the South. Recently Nigeria's food system has been subjected to a new confluence of shocks – intensified climate variation and shocks, COVID-19, a surge in banditry on the roads, civil conflict with the rise of Boko Haram, and fuel, fertilizer, and grain price surges due to the Russian invasion of Ukraine and other domestic and international factors.

There is much discussion of the effects of these shocks on the farm sector. But these shocks can also hurt the post-farmgate segments of the food supply chain (FSC) such as maize traders which are the focus of our analysis. The post-farmgate segments, one being traders, are important in Nigeria for several reasons. First, there is substantial rural and urban employment in food processing, wholesaling (trading), retailing, and logistics. Second, the FSC is essential for food security because in Nigeria 95%, of urban food consumption is purchased (in comparison to subsistence farming) and 78% of rural food consumption is purchased (with only 22% of rural food coming from "subsistence farming"). Thus 88% of all food consumed in Nigeria is purchased and comes from FSCs, short, medium length, or long. Fourth, the rural-urban FSC is important in Nigeria because 58% of all food consumed in urban areas (which constitute 50% of the national population). However, rural-rural and urban-rural FSCs are also important as most food consumed in rural areas is purchased (as noted above. Finally, domestic FSCs are far more important than imports in Nigerian food security. Less than 10% of food consumed is imported (in ton terms); More than 90% comes from domestic FSC carrying domestic products (Liverpool-Tasie et al., 2021).

Moreover, though there is extensive literature on the vulnerability of agrifood actors to exogenous shocks (such as climate, violence, or spoilage), most research has focused on individual shocks, and failed to describe the convergence of these stressors. This approach has drawbacks. First, focusing on one shock can lead to underestimation or overestimation of its effect, as vulnerability can depend on the interactions of many shocks working together. Second, failing to understand the clustering or confluence of shocks can lead to inadequate mitigating strategies. Adaptative measures focused on mitigating one shock might be counterproductive or even exacerbate the effects of a different shock (Feola et al., 2015). For example, investing in machinery that can reduce the effects of temperature variations caused by climate change could increase the probability of being a target to banditry as it can signal higher wealth.

Here we examine the incidence of shocks on and vulnerability of maize traders in Nigeria. We study five types of shocks: climate, violence, price changes, spoilage, and COVID-19. We focus on understanding the relationship among these shocks (that is, do they cluster or affect the trader as a "confluence") and the trader characteristics that make them more vulnerable.

We address three questions. First, are female, rural, and Northern (poorer region) traders more vulnerable to exogenous shocks than male, urban, and Southern traders? Second, are the more vulnerable traders more prone to experience more than one shock? Third, does experiencing

different shocks increase the intensity of the impacts of the shocks themselves (did traders classify the shock as having a big negative impact)? Answering these questions will help understand the nature of these shocks and if there is an uneven and unequal distribution of negative impacts. As well, better understanding trader vulnerability can lead to better tactics that can reduce such exposure or alleviate these challenges, enabling value chains to function with greater efficiency.

To address these questions we included a module on shocks in a comprehensive, detailed primary survey of 1100 traders in November 2021. The traders are based in urban wholesale markets and regional wholesale markets in main production regions. This is among the largest surveys of food traders in Africa. We asked the traders about their assets, purchasing, marketing, and value-added behaviors. The shocks module asked if the traders had experienced the following shocks in the previous year: (1) direct shocks from climate factors – transit road washouts, and floods and droughts in farm areas; (2) maize price surges and maize spoilage (that may arise at least partially from climate factors like drought and heat and humidity); (3) energy cost surges; (4) conflict and banditry; (5) shocks from COVID-19 and policies linked to containing it, such as lockdowns. We also asked about traders' strategies to avoid or cope with these shocks.

The paper proceeds as follows. The first section provides a literature review on the incidence and confluence of shocks. The second section discusses the data used; the third section presents a conceptual framework; the fourth section the econometrics model and application approach; the fifth section descriptive statistics; the sixth section, regression estimation results, and the last section, conclusions.

Literature review

There is an emerging literature examining the effects of individual shocks pertaining to climate, violence, price changes, spoilage and COVID-19 on FSCs. Climate change has disrupted the stability and predictability of food production, leading to lower crop yields, higher production costs, and reduced quality. This can have ripple effects throughout the entire value chain, leading to food insecurity, reduced incomes for farmers, and higher prices for consumers (Sartori et al., 2021).

Studies have shown how violence in rural areas, including conflicts over land and resources, can disrupt FSCs by impeding the movement of goods and people, damaging infrastructure, and reducing investment (FAO, 2020). Price changes, whether due to market fluctuations or policy interventions, can have significant impacts on food producers, processors, and retailers, affecting their profit margins and ultimately, their ability to sustain their businesses (Deaton, 2020). Spoilage has been a major challenge facing agri-food value chains, particularly in developing countries where inadequate infrastructure and poor storage facilities can lead to high levels of post-harvest losses (FAO, 2019). Studies have shown how COVID-19 disrupted the FSCs both along the chains and in farm and consumer segments (UNEP, 2021).

However, few studies have examined FSC actors' experience of and vulnerability to clusters or confluences of shocks. Within the climate literature, economists have integrated precipitation data as exogenous sources of shocks into various empirical models, aiming to gauge the retrospective

ramifications of weather conditions (Dell, Jones, & Olken, 2014). This approach has been used to study the influence of weather shocks on household consumption in Ethiopian villages, (Dercon, 2004; Dercon and Krishnan, 2000; and Porter 2012). There are also studies that quantify the welfare effects of drought and price inflation in Ethiopia (Hill and Porter, 2017).

Several studies have also examined how climate change and urbanization have spurred violent conflict (Baechler 1999, Homer-Dixon 1994). Burke et al. (2009) estimate that an increase of one degree Celsius will increase the likelihood of internal armed conflicts in sub-Saharan African countries by 4.5%. Increased droughts and desertification have increased the migration of nomadic herders into new farmer territories, increasing farmer-herder conflicts (Nnaji et al., 2022)

More recently studies have addressed "multiple stressors" that actors within the AFC face (Feola et al., 2015; Guido et al., 2020; Haq, 2015; Hicks, 2021; McDowell and Hess, 2012). These have mostly been qualitative studies of multiple shocks such as climate change and violence affecting farmers. This perspective has not been applied to off-farm segments of the AFC such as traders. We address that gap by examining multiple stressors of traders.

Data

We use a cross-section data set of maize traders collected in 2021 and some data from a first survey on the same sample in 2017. We surveyed 1195 maize traders in Northern and Southern Nigeria in 2017. We did the sampling based on our own census of maize traders in 63 main urban maize wholesale markets in Ibadan in the South and in Jos, Kaduna, Kano, and Katsina in the North (Liverpool-Tasie et al. 2017).

We resurveyed 1111 traders in November 2021 to get a (near) panel. Table 1 shows their characteristics. Nearly 90% are male and 93% are in based in the North (where the great majority of maize production is). Below we show however that many traders in both sets move maize from the North to the South and around the states of the North.

Table 1. Maize Trader Sample Characteristics, 2021 Survey

	Number	Share
Total interviews	1195	100
Maize trader interviews	1111	93
Traders that stopped trading	84	7

Gender

Male	977	88
Female	134	12
Region		
North	1,030	93
South	81	7

The 2021 sample has 84 fewer traders than the 2017 sample because 84 (7%) of the 2017 sample stopped trading maize. Table 2 shows the reasons they dropped out: 51% dropped just to do more profitable business; 35% said they dropped because they could not secure funds to continue trading; 10% dropped because of insecurity (Boko Haram, robbers, banditry); 5% dropped because of death or fire; but none dropped due to COVID factors (disease or lockdown). 40% left before 2020 and 60% in 2020 or 2021. Thus, the timing of most dropping happened to be at the same time as COVID (and a surge in insecurity). It is possible that there is a correlation between being unable to secure funds or wanting to move to a more profitable business and COVID-related challenges.

Reasons For Leaving	Share of traders
Moved on to a more profitable business	51
Inability to secure funds to continue trading	35
Due to insecurity from herder-farmers conflict	0
Due to insecurity due to Boko Haram	1
Insecurity on the roads from armed robbers	1
Insecurity due to banditry and kidnapping	8
Personal shock such as death or fire	4
Due to contracting COVID	0
Due to movement restrictions during COVID lockdowns	0
Number of traders that stopped trading maize	84

Table 2. Reasons traders exited trading after the 2017 survey & before the 2021 survey

Our survey interviews were conducted by an enumerator and the trader, in person. The survey questionnaire covered trader's assets, procurement, value addition (such as drying maize), marketing, and shocks experienced and strategies to address the impacts of the shocks in 2021. The data in 2017 were in the same categories but we had not asked about shocks/strategies in 2017.

To control for climate, and exposure to violence, we use two sources of data. The first were data about the presence of non-state armed actors. These were calculated using Nigeria data from the Armed Conflict Location and Event Data Project (<u>www.acleddata.com</u>) which covers actors, locations, fatalities, and types of all reported political violence (e.g., abduction, attacks, explosions), sexual violence, looting, and property destruction. The second were temperature and rainfall data from the Climate Hazards Group InfraRed Precipitation with Station data collected by the US government (CHIRPS; https://data.chc.ucsb.edu/products/CHIRPS-2.0/).

Conceptual Framework

The concept of vulnerability that we are using has two dimensions: exposure and sensitivity. Exposure refers to the hazards that threaten traders and sensitivity denotes how much a shock affects a trader (Guido et al., 2020). To econometrically explain vulnerability of traders to exogenous shocks we use two measurements of incidence as dependent variables. First, we focus on exposure - the probability of experiencing an exogenous shock independent of its severity. Secondly, we focus on impact - the probability of experiencing shock that had a "large negative effect".

We posit that the determinants of both exposure and impact are characteristics of the traders that feature how mobile they are and how exposed they are by the probable length and location of their trading activities in space (hence size and urban location) and their general vulnerability (size and gender).

We study five shocks: climate, violence, spoilage, increase in input prices, and a general exogenous shock. In the case of COVID 19, we only focus on the second measure (negative effect) as all traders were affected, but only some had severe outcomes. Each of these shocks was constructed as a summation over subsets of that general shock, as in Table 3. Each trader was asked if they had experienced any of the shocks in the right column in the past year (2020-2021). If they answered yes to any of the questions, we could record the trader as having experienced that general shock.

Type of shock	Shocks traders responded to in survey
Climate	 Delay in receiving maize due to road wash-out Maize production shortage due to floods Logistics shortage or fee hike due to washouts or floods along roads from form groups to wholegale markets
	 Maize production shortage due to droughts
	- Washout or flood in market destination area
Violence	 Boko Haram conflict constraining selling maize Boko Haram conflict constraining buying maize from farmers Boko Haram conflict in the North hurting buying from other traders
	 Farmer-herder conflict constraining buying maize from farmers Other insecurity problems (including banditry/kidnappers) affecting the overall ability to trade maize
Spoilage	 Aflatoxin outbreak Pests affecting stored maize Rodents affecting stored maize Serious spoilage of maize (e.g., due to mold)
Increase in input prices	 Significant increase in maize price Significant increase in transport cost due to fuel price increases Significant increase in fuel price
COVID19 (severe)	 Reduction of number of permanent or seasonal employees Reduction of salary of your staff Used own savings to support business Sold own assets to support business

Table 3. Classification of general types of shocks

Our hypotheses concerning the relationship between trader characteristics and shocks vary with the type of shock and its severity. We posit that larger traders will be more exposed to violence than smaller traders because larger traders might be perceived as wealthier and therefore a better target for banditry.. We also hypothesize that larger traders suffer more spoilage because of the large volume of maize they move and the greater difficulty of monitoring its conditions. We posit smaller traders would be more affected by higher input prices as they may have less bargaining power to negotiate lower prices with suppliers.

The relationship between climate shocks and trader size seems more ambiguous. A smaller trader may move grain a shorter distance and be more vulnerable to local weather and have less diversity of sourcing areas to manage risk. But larger traders often have more complex and interconnected supply chains, and source from further along longer routes which can be more vulnerable to disruptions caused by climate events such as droughts, floods, and storms.

The relationship between shocks and gender is also ambiguous. With regards to spoilage, climate, COVID19 and price shocks, there is no inherent reason to believe that women traders are more vulnerable. These shocks affect individuals and businesses regardless of gender. However, research suggests that women, in general, may be disproportionately affected by climate change due to preexisting gender inequalities where they have less access to mitigating tools such as credit and education.

By contrast, it seems more likely that female traders will be more vulnerable to violence than male traders. Terrorist groups sometimes use sexual violence to gain control through fear, displace civilians, enforce unit cohesion among fighters, and even generate economic gains through trafficking (Bigio & Vogelstein, 2019).

The location of victims, whether in the North or South, has the potential to affect the probability of experiencing a shock. We expect the North to have more climate events as it is more arid (Nnaji et al., 2022). The North is also poorer in general so perhaps more vulnerable to input price hikes, controlling for trader scale.

Finally, we hypothesize that some shocks tend to occur more together which lead to traders' facing sets of them that can in confluence cause more harm. Some shocks that are complementary (climate shocks and spoilage) which enforce this confluence.

We created 4 variables that measure the number of shocks that each trader has had by type of shock (climate, violence, spoilage and higher input prices). These shocks per category correspond to the right-hand side variables in Table 3. If the trader responded yes to any of those shocks they were added within the total category. Some of the combinations are *a priori* more probable, such as climate shocks and spoilage. Some may not be necessarily probable, such as violence and climate shocks, as violent groups may be in unfavorable climate-shocked areas, but also might be in areas with better natural resources and more profits from holdups. We are not assuming causality among shocks, but are simply studying their relationship and complementarity.

Within the control variables, we need to account for two sources of non-randomness. First, we must take into account that exposure to different shocks is not random in each territory. For example, violent groups establish themselves in regions with particular geographical and institutional characteristics that favor their overall objectives. There are correlations between a region and certain shocks as well. For example northern Nigeria has had more desertification, increasing the probability of climate related shocks and potentially spoilage shocks. To account for this, we include climate variables (such as temperature and rainfall) and violence variables (number of years of the presence of an armed group) in each LGA (a local county is called a "local government area", LGA, in Nigeria). These variables can serve as indicators of places that have poorer resources due to harsher weather conditions and more presence of general violence conflict.

A second source of non-randomness can come from the fact that traders can change their own actions to reduce their exposure and sensitivity to shocks. Traders can choose were they sell their goods (North or South) and their size. Overall, it is likely that traders who are fairly certain about their exposure in a territory will take measures to prevent these shocks. Given that we are not able to measure directly the knowledge and awareness of a trader, we do have a proxy that is useful: if the

trader had experienced each shock in 2017 (except COVID). Due to the presence of this non-randomness we cannot claim causality but only correlations or associations.

We also include a set of trader characteristics that could potentially have effects on the experience of a shock. These characteristics include trading experience, schooling, rurality of traders (urban vs rural markets), association participation, own production of maize, and religion.

Regression model and estimation method

To understand the vulnerability of a trader to an exogenous shock, we use the following probit specification:

$g_i = \boldsymbol{M}_i \boldsymbol{\beta}_M + \boldsymbol{M} \boldsymbol{V}_i \boldsymbol{\beta}_{MV} + \boldsymbol{X}_i \boldsymbol{\beta}_x + \boldsymbol{u}_i$

Where g_i is a binary indicator of violence shock for trader *i*, where $g_i=1$ if the trader has experienced that shock and 0 otherwise in the past year. In this case we are going to estimate first 4 general shocks (disregarding severity): (1) Climate; (2) Violence; (3) Spoilage; and (4) Higher input prices. Then we are going to estimate 4 shocks which affect severity: (1) Climate (2) Violence (3) Higher input prices and (4) COVID19. It is important to note that we did not include spoilage within the second set of equations as only 12 traders suffered severe spoilage loss, and the lack of variability made the equation impossible to estimate.

 M_i is a vector of our variables of interest including size, gender, location (North or South) of the main market where the trader sells as well as the number of climate, violence, spoilage, and input price shocks experienced by each trader and if they had experienced a COVID shock. It is important to note that we did not include the number of shocks for a specific category when we were estimating the probability of experiencing a shock in the same category. For example, when estimating a violence shock, we did not include the number of violence shocks.

 MV_i is a vector of LGA-level variables that include the number of years of non-state armed actors' presence at the traders' location, and geographical variables such as average daily rainfall and temperature for 2021. X_{it} is a vector of control variables, including trader characteristics comprising education, trader experience, religion, trader production of maize, and trader participation in an association and location (urban vs rural market). As well we include dummy variables that show if the traders had experienced a violence, price, or general shock in 2017. β_m , β_{MV} , β_x , are the coefficient estimates associated with the study covariates. u_{it} is the error term which we assume is distributed $u_i \mid M_{it}, MV_i, X_i, \sim N(0,1)$.

We model the probability of experiencing a shock by using the standard Probit framework:

$$\Pr(g_{it} = 1 | M_{it}, MV_i, X_{it},) = \Phi(M_{it}\beta_M + MV_i\beta_{MV} + X_{it}\beta_x) \quad t = 1 \dots T \quad [2]$$

where Φ is the cumulative distribution function of the standard normal distribution. Following Wooldridge (2005) we use a conditional maximum likelihood estimator (MLE) to obtain the estimates of β_m , β_{MV} , and β_x . As well we calculate the average partial effect by averaging across the distribution of all observable covariates.

Descriptive statistics

In the following we discuss the key findings shown in the descriptive Tables 4-11. Each Table shows the shares of traders having experienced a particular type of shock and the severity of these.

Climate/weather shocks

Table 4 shows that 14% of traders experienced a climate/weather shock. Table 5 shows that larger traders were a bit more apt (at 15%) than smaller traders (at 11%) to experience this shock (with a highly significant statistical difference). Male and female operators do not differ in experience of climate shocks (Table 6). These results together suggest that traders who depend on a larger catchment area for their procurement are more vulnerable to droughts in the sending zones and floods along the roads including in their own areas.

	Farm area flood	Farm area drought	Road wash out	Any Climate Shock
% traders affected by climate shock	4	2	12	14
Conditional on having this shock:				
% traders affected in the North	3	1	11	13
% traders affected in the South	18	6	26	26
Avg. years of trading experience	19	21	20	20
% traders had no effect	2	5	7	6
% traders had small negative effect	57	59	34	37
% traders had big negative effect	41	36	59	57
% Total effects	100	100	100	100
% traders completely recovered	33	46	33	33

Table 4. Climate shocks affecting maize traders August 2020 – July 2021

Table 4 breaks down the types of climate shocks into droughts, floods, and road washouts. Floods were experienced by 4% of the traders (3% of North and 18% of South traders) as one would expect in the wetter South. Droughts affected only 2% of the traders; interestingly, that share was 1% in the North and 6% in the South. One reason may be that the South traders source heavily from areas in the North that were drought-affected. The most common shock was road wash-out (possibly because lack of culverts to divert flood flows); 11% of the North and 26% of South traders experienced these wash-outs. This could be due to climate differences between the regions but our survey did not show where the roads washed out. Given that the North depends on their own region (the North, where most maize is produced) and the South traders mainly source from the North, the climate shocks in the North transmit importantly to the South.

Table 4 also shows the severity of each climate shock. Of the traders that experienced a climate shock, 6% of traders went without an effect, 37% had only a small negative effect, 57% were severely hurt. The table also shows that 33% of the traders completely recovered from the climate shock. The largest negative effect came from road washouts (59%) versus only about 40% for the droughts and floods. Complete recovery was a third for each of drought and washout but higher (46%) for floods.

	Size (share)		T-test
	Small	Large	T statistic
Share of wholesalers	42	58	
Shocks			
Drought/Floods/Road Washout	11	15	-2.16***
Boko Haram conflict on maize selling/buying	15	16	-0.22
Farmer-herder conflict on maize buying	19	19	-0.00
Banditry on maize trading	36	44	-2.32**
Spoilage	1	3	-1.15
Jump in maize price	58	57	0.31
Jump in truck fuel price	33	42	-3.03***
Negative Covid Effects	61	66	-1.57

Table 5. Shocks by size and region of the maize trader

	Meta Region (share)		T-test
	North	South	T statistic
Share of Wholesalers	93	7	
Shocks			
Drought/Floods/Road Washout	13	26	-3.20***
Boko Haram conflict on maize selling/buying	13	40	-6.43***
Farmer-herder conflict on maize buying	18	43	-5.31***
Banditry on maize trading	41	48	-1.35
Spoilage	3	1	0.87
Jump in maize price	58	61	-0.58
Jump in truck fuel price	41	27	2.33**
Negative Covid Effects	64	61	0.6

* p<0.1; ** p<0.05; *** p<0.01

Regions: North includes: Katsina, Kano, Kaduna and Plateau. South includes Oyo state.

	Sex (share)		T-test	
	Male	Female	T statistic	
Share of Wholesalers	88	12		
Shocks				
Drought/Floods/ Road Wash	14	14	0.02	
Boko Haram conflict on maize selling/buying	15	18	-1.08	
Farmer-herder conflict on maize buying	17	44	-7.65***	
Banditry on maize trading	40	54	-3.03***	
Spoilage	3	3	-0.15	
Jump in maize price	57	69	-2.63***	
Jump in truck fuel price	42	26	3.46***	
Negative Covid Effects	63	73	-2.27**	

Size: large traders are those that sold 32 tons (or more) per month within the high season Table 6. Shocks by gender of the maize trader

* p<0.1; ** p<0.05; *** p<0.01

Conflict shocks

Table 7 shows that 48% of the traders experienced a conflict shock. The probability of the shock was 1.4 times higher for South-based traders than North-based traders: 47% of North traders versus 66% of South traders (Table 5). This may be due to South-based traders being much more exposed to conflicts due to their much longer transit distances than North-based traders. It also might be due to South traders' having to specialize in sourcing from certain zones in the North where conflict is higher while the North traders have perhaps more options.

Table	7.	Conflic	t shock.	s affecting	maize	traders
		./		.// 0	١.	

	Boko Haram conflict on selling/buying	Farmer-herder conflict on buying from farmers	Banditry on maize trading	Any type of violence
% traders affected by this shock	15	20	42	48

Conditional on having this shock:

% traders affected in the North	13	18	41	47
% traders affected in the South	40	42	48	66
% traders had no effect	3	7	5	5
% traders had small negative effect	31	60	41	39
% traders had big negative effect	66	33	54	56
% Total effects	100	100	100	100
% traders completely recovered	52	34	24	75

Table 7 breaks down the types of conflict shocks into Boko Haram, farm-herder conflict, and banditry. Boko Haram violence is experienced by 15% of the traders overall, with 13% among North-based traders and 40% for South-based (Table 5). Farmer-herder conflicts affect 20% of the traders overall, again with the imbalance of 18% of the North-based and 42% of the South-based (Table 5). Banditry, however, is more equally shared, affecting 42% overall with 41% of North and 48% of South based traders. These findings are consistent with anecdotal evidence noting the rise of banditry across the county and the expansion of security concerns in Nigeria beyond Boko Haram to farmer-herder conflicts and banditry (George and Adelaja 2022). Again, as with North climate shocks, given the South importantly depends on the North the conflict shocks in the North transmit importantly to the South.

Table 5 shows that the difference between North and South based traders in terms of conflict exposure is highly significant statistically for Boko Haram conflict and farmer-herder conflict but not for banditry. This suggests banditry is more widespread in both the North and South and the long transit between the two. Table 5 shows that larger traders were more apt (at 44%) than smaller traders (at 36%) to experience banditry (but the difference was not significant for the other conflict shocks).

Table 6 shows that female operators were much more likely than males to experience farmer-herder conflict shocks (44 to 17%) and banditry (54 to 40%) with both differences highly significant. This is likely driven by the situation in Plateau State (where majority of the female maize traders are found) and farmer-herder conflict rampant.

Table 7 shows the perceived effects of the shocks for all conflict shocks taken together (the last column) controlling for their having experienced the shock: 5% of traders went without an effect, 39% had only a small negative effect, and 56% were severely hurt. Note the similarity of these effects with those of climate. The largest negative effect came from Boko Haram, followed by banditry and then by farmer-herder conflict.

However, 75% of the traders completely recovered from the shocks (for all shocks taken together). Complete recovery was 52% for Boko Haram shocks and 34% for herder-farm conflict and 24% for banditry. This highlights the significant challenge from banditry and herder-farmer conflicts often less discussed in international debates compared to Boko Haram.

Spoilage/loss/waste shocks

Table 8 shows that only 3% reported experiencing a spoilage/loss/waste shock. The probability of the spoilage shock was 3 times higher for North-based traders than South-based traders: 3% of North traders versus 1% of South traders (although Table 5 shows that these do not different statistically). This may be due to North-based traders sourcing from a wider variety of North sources with a greater variety of spoilage controls; the grain sold to the South traders may have been sorted/selected for long distance sale.

	ALL: Aflatoxin, Insects, rodents and mold in maize	Aflatoxin	Insects	Rodents	Spoilage from mold
% traders affected by this shock	3	0.2	1.1	1.8	0.5
Conditional on having this shock:					
% traders affected in the North	3				
% traders affected in the South	1				
% traders had no effect	5				
% traders had small negative effect	56				
% traders had big negative effect	39				
% Total effects	100				
% traders completely recovered	44				

Table 8. Spoilage/loss/waste shocks affecting maize traders

Table 8 breaks down the spoilage shocks into aflatoxin, insects, rodents, and spoilage from mold. We do not show further information in rows in these columns because the shares are so slight. Damage from rodents is the highest but is still only 1.8%, with insects at 1.1% of traders, mold, 0.5%, and aflatoxin only 0.2%.

Table 5 shows spoilage shock exposure is thrice higher for large traders but the difference is not significantly statistically. Table 6 shows there is no difference in spoilage shocks between male and female traders.

Cost shocks

Table 9 shows that cost shocks are experienced by 63% of traders. We asked about the two most important inputs to traders (besides labor), the maize price and the truck fuel price. Maize price surges were felt by 58% and fuel price surges, 40%. The difference between other shocks and the fuel price shock is that presumably all traders face the same or similar fuel prices while maize prices can differ over zones, despite arbitrage.

The North and South traders are equally affected by maize price surges, presumably because these are mainly in the North where most maize is produced and both depend mainly on the North for maize. Interestingly, the share of traders being affected by fuel price surges is much more in the North (41%) than in the South (27%). This may be due to differences between the regions in fuel prices and/or fuel access. It may also be that South traders in depending on 3PLS for the long supply chains are working with larger trucks which may have greater access to limited fuel or at least get their fuel along major highways where the prices may be more competitive.

	Jump in maize price	Jump in truck fuel price	Any Jump in input price
% traders affected by this shock	58	40	63
Conditional on having this shock:			
% traders affected in the North	58	41	63
% traders affected in the South	61	27	62
% traders had no effect	5	7	7
% traders had small negative effect	42	39	39
% traders had big negative effect	53	54	54
% Total effects	100	100	100
% traders completely recovered	23	21	20

Table 9. Cost shocks affecting maize traders

Table 5 shows fuel price shock exposure is 1.5 times more frequent for large traders (and the difference is statistically significant); this could be because larger traders tend to travel or source

from longer distances. By contrast there is no significant difference in maize price surges felt by large versus small traders; that might suggest a lack of "bargaining power" by larger traders relative to small traders.

Table 6 shows males are nearly twice as apt to experience a fuel price shock as females. This could because females trade closer to their base and have smaller operations. Females also are somewhat more apt to experience a maize price surge than males (and that difference is significant statistically).

Table 9 shows the effects of the shocks for both price shocks taken together controlling for their having experienced the shock: 7% of traders went without an effect, 39% had only a small negative effect, and 54% were severely hurt. The shares did not differ much between the two types of price shocks. A very low share (compared with the other shocks) of traders fully recovered from the price shocks, just around 20% for both prices.

COVID related shocks (mainly from lockdowns)

Since all traders experienced a COVID-19 shock, we focus on those traders that were more severely affected. Particularly, we considered a severe shock if because of COVID- 19 they reported doing any of the following: reduced employees or staff salaries, or used own savings to weather shock, or sold own assets. Table 10 shows that 64% of the traders experienced a severe COVID-related shock. This was similar in the North (64% of traders) and the South (61%). There was no significant difference between small and large traders. But female traders were a little more likely to experience the shock (Table 5).

Table 10. COVID-related shocks on maize traders

COVID-19 related shock, if: reduced the number of permanent or seasonal employees; reduced staff salary; used own savings to support business; sold own assets to support business

% traders affected by this shock	64
% traders affected in the North	64
% traders affected in the South	61

Confluence of shocks

Table 11 shows the distribution of shocks by traders, and by traders who experienced each type of shock. The data show that fully 66% of the traders experienced 1-4 shocks in the same year. Only 20% experienced more than that and 13% experienced fewer. The bottom rows (from Climate+ to COVID 19 +) show the share of traders who experienced both a specific shock (climate, violence, etc.) and other shocks. In most of the cases, traders that experienced a specific shock also

experienced 2 or 3 other shocks. For example, 34% of the traders that experienced a violence shock experienced 2 non-violence related shocks. This suggests that traders are more exposed to different sources of shocks and are not only vulnerable to one.

Table 11. Shares of traders undergoing no shock, one shock, or multiple shocks															
Number of shocks															
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	
% traders	13	16	16	15	19	8	6	2	1	1	0.7	0.6	0.4	0.5	100%
Climate +	1	6	15	17	21	11	6	6	11	6					100%
Violence +	12	16	34	12	17	5	2	1	1	0					100
Spoilage +	6	6	19	13	16	16	10	6	3	3					100
Price +	10	32	23	19	4	4	4	1	2	0.4	0.8				100
COVID 19 +	12	19	17	26	11	8	3	2	1.3	0.8	0.1	0.6	0.7		100

Regression Results

In Tables 12 and 13 we present the average marginal effects of the probit model for shock incidence and for severe shock incidence respectively. There are six main findings.

Table 12. Probit regression results (Average partial effects): determinants of shock incidence by type of shock

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
VARIABLES	Climate	Violence	Spoilage	High prices
Number of climate shocks		0.08	0.46**	0.74***
		(0.104)	(0.189)	(0.208)
Number violence shocks	0.12*		0.11	0.36***
	(0.064)		(0.105)	(0.080)
Number of spoilage shocks	1.07***	-0.05		0.54
	(0.298)	(0.328)		(0.468)
Number of price shocks	0.32***	0.16**	-0.02	

	(0.066)	(0.068)	(0.123)	
Negative COVID effect (base =	-0.15	0.36***	0.17	0.89***
no negative effects)	(0.180)	(0.131)	(0.267)	(0.136)
Gender (base male)	-0.38	0.33	0.29	0.34
	(0.256)	(0.294)	(0.375)	(0.238)
Size (base small)	0.25	-0.10	-0.24	-0.05
	(0.180)	(0.132)	(0.289)	(0.145)
Region (base North)	-0.37	1.06**	-1.18	-0.89*
	(0.463)	(0.356)	(1.065)	(0.425)
General Shocks in 2017	0.09		0.39	
	(0.146)		(0.258)	
Violence Shock in 2017		0.13		
		(0.218)		
Price shock in 2017				-0.12
				(0.129)
Location (base rural)	-0.26	0.68***	0.40	0.43**
	(0.233)	(0.171)	(0.267)	(0.207)
Years violence presence	-0.04	0.09***	0.03	0.03
	(0.041)	(0.024)	(0.033)	(0.023)
Mean rainfall 2021	0.82**	-0.46*	-0.43	0.03
	(0.325)	(0.239)	(0.366)	(0.239)
Mean temperature 2021	0.34***	-0.05	-0.09	0.15**
	(0.095)	(0.076)	(0.127)	(0.076)
Age	0.00	-0.02**	-0.04**	-0.01
	(0.010)	(0.008)	(0.017)	(0.009)
Experience	-0.00	0.02	0.03**	0.01
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.013)	(0.010)
Islamic (base: Christian)	-0.54	0.27	1.12**	-0.78***

	(0.358)	(0.237)	(0.475)	(0.245)			
Produces own maize (base 0)	-0.09	1.27***	0.52	-0.36**			
	(0.258)	(0.177)	(0.349)	(0.174)			
Trader is part of an association (base 0)	0.40**	0.06	0.55**	0.11			
	(0.158)	(0.129)	(0.237)	(0.140)			
Constant	-14.36***	2.14	0.91	-4.40			
	(3.776)	(2.851)	(4.257)	(2.809)			
Observations	1,032	1,032	1,032	1,032			
Delivery standard survey is second-							

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Table 13. Probit regression results (Average partial effects): determinants of severe shock incidence by type of shock

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
VARIABLES	Severe climate	Severe violence	Severe prices	Negative COVID
Number of climate shocks		-0.13	0.41***	-0.24**
		(0.115)	(0.122)	(0.119)
Number violence shocks	0.10		0.21***	0.21***
	(0.080)		(0.057)	(0.055)
Number of spoilage shocks	1.21***	0.28	0.38	-0.06
	(0.324)	(0.271)	(0.278)	(0.275)
Number of price shocks	0.50***	0.29***		0.36***
	(0.084)	(0.059)		(0.057)
	-0.31	0.19	0.36***	

Negative COVID effect (base no negative effects)	(0.193)	(0.137)	(0.132)	
Sex (base male)	-1.15**	0.49*	-0.02	-0.16
	(0.557)	(0.269)	(0.307)	(0.265)
Size (base small)	0.08	-0.07	-0.48***	-0.20
	(0.227)	(0.146)	(0.146)	(0.132)
Region (base North)	-0.57	-1.46***	-3.45***	-0.20
	(0.849)	(0.474)	(0.590)	(0.434)
General Shocks in 2017	-0.01			
	(0.175)			
Violence Shock in 2017		0.41*		
		(0.234)		
Price shock in 2017			-0.04	
			(0.130)	
Location (base rural)	0.16	0.84***	0.69***	-0.89***
	(0.215)	(0.169)	(0.168)	(0.181)
Years violence presence	0.03	0.03	0.01	0.00
	(0.042)	(0.023)	(0.021)	(0.026)
Mean rainfall 2021	-0.24	0.36	0.82***	0.38
	(0.369)	(0.262)	(0.208)	(0.236)
Mean temperature 2021	0.18	0.18**	0.39***	-0.01
	(0.117)	(0.086)	(0.078)	(0.077)
Age	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	-0.02***
	(0.012)	(0.008)	(0.009)	(0.008)
Experience	-0.01	0.03***	0.00	0.01
	(0.014)	(0.009)	(0.010)	(0.009)
Islamic (base: Christian)	-0.20	1.07***	-0.16	-0.19
	(0.354)	(0.302)	(0.298)	(0.244)
Produces own maize (base 0)	-0.35	0.54***	-0.25	0.06

	(0.357)	(0.182)	(0.190)	(0.180)
Is part of an association (base	0.26	0.08	-0.04	0.34**
0)	(0.183)	(0.140)	(0.132)	(0.135)
Constant	-6.74	-8.87***	-14.53***	0.27
	(4.534)	(3.266)	(2.802)	(2.913)
Observations	1,032	1,032	1,032	1,032

Robust standard errors in parentheses

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

First, there is generally a confluence of shocks, particularly in relationship to price shocks. Table 12 shows price shocks are correlated with violence, climate and COVID shocks. An increase of one climate related shock is associated with an increase in the probability of experiencing a price shock by 74% (column (4) in Table 12). An additional violence shock is associated with an increase in the probability of experiencing a price shock of 36%. The interpretation is that climate and violence shocks can lead to road closures and maize yield drops which lead to increases in transportation costs and input costs.

Price shocks can also exacerbate the effect of climate and violence shocks. Price shocks increase the probability of experiencing severe climate, violence, and COVID shocks. Price shocks have a far bigger incidence in predicting severe climate and violence shocks than general exposure to the climate or violence shock. The addition of one price shock increases the probability of experiencing a severe climate shock by 50% (Table 13 column 1), and a violence shock by 29% (Table 13 column 2). This can be interpreted as higher input and transportation costs constraining traders in their actions to mitigate risk.

Second, there is a positive relationship between COVID and violence shocks. Table 12 shows that traders who experienced a severe COVID shock were 36% more likely to experience a violence shock as well (column 2). This goes hand in hand with recent studies that have shown that COVID worsened governance standards, including leadership failures which have led to less democratic accountability, high levels of corruption and higher inequality rates (Kaufman, 2020). It might also have been because of terror organizations (such as Boko Haram in Nigeria) using the pandemic to gain influence and credibility, with their recruitment and radicalization strategies being amplified through acts of charity, offering financial resources, and other forms of related assistance (United Nations Security Council, 2021).

Third, though the exposure to shocks is often not statistically significant with regard to region (North versus South), when accounting for severity of shocks, the North is disproportionately affected. Table 12 shows "region" has no effect on the probability of experiencing a climate or spoilage shock, but Southern traders have a higher incidence of violence shocks and Northern

traders have a higher incidence of price shocks. But Table 13 shows that Southern traders are less likely to experience severe shocks (when compared with the Northern traders), and this is particularly significant for severe violence and severe price shocks. This may be because Northern Nigeria has the greatest share of population in extreme poverty and a high violence and crime rate (Jaiyeola and Choga, 2021). Overall, higher poverty rates can leave individuals with fewer financial tools to mitigate risk, and are therefore more exposed to severe shocks.

Fourth, in Tables 12 and 13, there are no significant differences across trader sizes, except on severity of price shocks. Smaller traders are 48% more likely (than larger traders) to be affected by severe price shocks (Table 13 column 3). Overall, small traders have less bargaining power and may not be able to negotiate lower prices with suppliers. As a result, they may have to pay more for the same inputs as larger competitors.

Fifth, the effects of gender across shocks are varied. There is no statistical significance with regards to general shock incidence, but when it comes to severe shocks, women have a higher chance of experiencing a violence shock and men of experiencing a severe climate event. This highlights the challenges faced by women during periods of turmoil. Men appear more exposed to the climate shocks.

Sixth, traders' farming maize is a strategy to mitigate maize price shocks but can expose (through rural area location specific activity, and usually in the North where most maize is grown) them to violence shocks. Table 12 shows that traders who grow maize had a 36% lower chance of experiencing maize price shocks (column 4) but a 127% higher chance of experiencing violence shocks (column 2). The latter is made more explicable by our knowing that non-state armed actors and farmer herder conflicts have led to the destruction of farm fields in the North in particular.

Conclusions

This paper has six key findings. First, maize traders in long supply chains in Nigeria were exposed to a confluence of shocks, especially price shocks, which are often accompanied by violence, climate, and COVID shocks. Second, COVID and violence shocks have a positive relationship, as traders who experienced a severe COVID shock were more likely to experience a violence shock. Third, the North region, poorer and with more rural violence than other regions, was disproportionately affected by shocks, with Northern traders having a higher incidence of price shocks, and Southern traders experiencing more violence shocks but linked to their involvement in long supply chains of maize mainly from the North. Fourth, except for severe price shocks, there were no significant differences across trader sizes in terms of shock incidence. Fifth, the effects of gender on shocks were varied, with women having a higher chance of experiencing a violence shock and men being more likely to experience a severe climate event. Finally, traders' farming maize mitigates their exposure to price shocks but increases their vulnerability to violence shocks.

The study highlights the importance of understanding the confluence of shocks and their impacts on traders. The findings suggest that shocks such as COVID, violence, and climate can have severe consequences for traders, especially those living in or sourcing from poor areas. In general, the

identification of victims is crucial to developing effective strategies that can help support traders and strengthen security in food systems.

References

- Baechler, G., 1998. Violence Through Environmental Discrimination: Causes, Rwanda Arena, and Conflict Model. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Burke, M.B., Miguel, E., Satyanath, S., Dykema, J.A., Lobell, D.B. 2009. Warming increases the risk of civil war in Africa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 20670–20674. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0907998106
- Deaton, A. 2020. The Great Escape: Health, Wealth, and the Origins of Inequality. Princeton University Press.
- Dell, M., Jones, B. F., & Olken, B. A. (2014). What do we learn from the weather? The new climateeconomy literature. Journal of Economic literature, *52*(3), 740-798.
- Dercon, S. 2004. Growth and shocks: evidence from rural Ethiopia. Journal of Development economics, 74(2), 309-329.
- Dercon, S., & Krishnan, P. (2000). Vulnerability, seasonality and poverty in Ethiopia. The Journal of Development Studies, 36(6), 25-53.
- FAO. 2019. The state of food and agriculture 2019: Moving forward on food loss and waste reduction. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- FAO. 2020. Impact of violence and conflict on food security and nutrition: A review of the evidence. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Feola, G., Agudelo Vanegas, L.A., Contesse Bamón, B.P., 2015. Colombian agriculture under multiple exposures: a review and research agenda. Climate and Development 7, 278–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2014.934776</u>
- Guido, Z., Knudson, C., Finan, T., Madajewicz, M., Rhiney, K., 2020. Shocks and cherries: The production of vulnerability among smallholder coffee farmers in Jamaica. World Development 132, 104979. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.104979
- George, S., A. Adelaja. 2022. Armed conflicts, forced displacement, and food security in host communities. World Development. (158), October: 105991. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2022.105991</u>
- Haq, R. 2015. Shocks as a Source of Vulnerability: An Empirical Investigation from Pakistan. PDR 54, 245–272. <u>https://doi.org/10.30541/v54i3pp.245-272</u>
- Hicks, C.D. 2021. Social vulnerability and community violence: an analysis of violence trends, social vulnerabilities, media perceptions and business characteristics in a population impacted by flooding (Doctor of Philosophy). University of Iowa. <u>https://doi.org/10.17077/etd.005985</u>
- Hill, R. V., & Porter, C. 2017. Vulnerability to drought and food price shocks: evidence from Ethiopia. World Development, 96, 65-77.

- Homer-Dixon, T.F., 1994. Environmental Scarcities and Violent Conflict: Evidence from Cases. International Security 19, 5–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/isec.19.1.5</u>
- Jaiyeola, A.O., Choga, I. 2021. Assessment of poverty incidence in Northern Nigeria. Journal of Poverty 25, 155–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10875549.2020.1783424</u>
- Liverpool-Tasie, L.S.O, T. Reardon, B. Belton. 2021. "Essential non-essentials": COVID-19 policy missteps in Nigeria rooted in persistent myths about African food value chains. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy. 43(1), March: 205-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13139</u>
- McDowell, J.Z., Hess, J.J. 2012. Accessing adaptation: Multiple stressors on livelihoods in the Bolivian highlands under a changing climate. Global Environmental Change 22, 342–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2011.11.002
- Porter, C. 2012. Shocks, consumption and income diversification in rural Ethiopia. Journal of Development Studies, 48(9), 1209-1222.
- Sartori, M., Iaquinta, M., & Trivelli, M. 2021. Climate change and agriculture: A review of impacts and adaptation in Italy. Regional Environmental Change, 21(1), 1-11.
- UNEP (2021). Making peace with nature: A scientific blueprint to tackle the climate, biodiversity and pollution emergencies. United Nations Environment Programme. https://www.unep.org/resources/making-peace-nature
- United Nations Security Council. 2021. Update on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on terrorism, counter-terrorism and countering violent extremism. <u>https://www.un.org/securitycouncil/ctc/content/update-impact-covid-19-pandemic-terrorism-counter-terrorism-and-countering-violent-extremism</u>